IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CANDICE YOUNG, Personal Representative of the Wrongful Death Beneficiaries of CHERIE S. HANCOCK, Deceased

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO.: 2004-CA-02532

DONALD C. GUILD, M.D.

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following list of persons have an interest

in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme

Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Whether it was reversible error for the Court to refuse Plaintiff's Proposed Jury Instructions P-5 and P-6 thereby denying Plaintiff an instruction that placed her theory of the case before the jury.

k -

2. Whether it was reversible error for the trial court to deny Plaintiffs the opportunity to submit an apportionment instruction to the jury so as to allow the jury to apportion the fault of the alleged tortfeasors.

3. Whether it was reversible error for the trial court to admit into evidence unauthenticated copies of alleged suicide notes of Cherie S. Hancock.

4. Whether there were matters which in the cumulative constitute reversible error and warrant a reversal and new trial. These matters include

- a. Inappropriate comments by counsel for Defendant during opening statement that the jury would not hear from Attorney Jim Herring because Plaintiff had claimed attorney/client privilege and objected to him testifying.
- b. The admission of testimony from Donna Kerry Pigg as to conversations between Ms. Pigg and the Deceased, such conversations constituting hearsay and being highly prejudicial.
- c. Admission into evidence of certain statements by the Deceased made to Defendant which statements were not contained or documented within Dr. Guild's medical records.

-1-

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a wrongful death action brought by the personal representative of the wrongful death beneficiaries of Cherie S. Hancock, Deceased. Cherie S. Hancock committed suicide on September 20, 1999, while under the care of Donald C. Guild, M.D. Plaintiff pled that the death of Cherie S. Hancock was the direct and proximate result of the negligence of Donald C. Guild, M.D. This matter was tried before a jury in the Circuit Court of Yazoo County, Mississippi with a verdict favoring Defendant Donald C. Guild, M.D. The trial court denied Plaintiff's motion for new trial resulting in this appeal.

The following facts are relevant to the issues presented for review.

1.

1. The Deceased, Cherie S. Hancock, was referred to Defendant Donald C. Guild, M.D. by attorney Jim Herring for purposes of obtaining an expert opinion relative to divorce litigation. (RE 16; R 306)

2. From August 6, 1999 up to and including September 20, 1999, the Deceased, Cherie S. Hancock, was under the care and treatment of Defendant Donald C. Guild, M.D. From August 20, 1999 until September 17, 1999, Dr. Guild treated Cherie Hancock on an inpatient basis at the North Campus at St. Dominic's Hospital in Jackson, Mississippi. (RE 189; TE P-4)

3. On September 15, 1999, two days before Dr. Guild released Cherie Hancock from the hospital, Dr. Guild testified on behalf of Ms. Hancock before the Chancery Court of Yazoo County, Mississippi at a hearing arising out of a Complaint for Divorce filed by Ms. Hancock against her husband, George Thomas Hancock. The purpose of the hearing involved temporary custody of the house owned by Mrs. Hancock and Mr. Hancock pending the divorce proceedings. (RE 77-81; TR 234-236)

-2-

4. At the time of this September 15, 1999 testimony, Dr. Guild was still treating Mrs. Hancock on an inpatient basis at St. Dominic's. At this hearing, he gave the following statements and opinions under oath:

ι.

A. When asked if he had an opinion to what Mrs. Hancock's condition would be if she were not allowed to move back into the house Dr. Guild stated, "I really just don't want to think about that. I don't think it will be good at all. I hope she would make it but we have to find another place for her to live. It won't be permanent. It will be a temporary place. For anybody else, for most other people they could look ahead and see the fact that they are going to come out all right but I'm afraid she can't do that. With her depression and everything it is going to be clouded, she is going to be hopeless. I'm afraid she will take her life." (RE 77-78; R 232-233)

B. When asked at the hearing if he knew how much longer Mrs. Hancock would need to be hospitalized as his best estimate he replied, "I think I could put her back into the house in two days. I would feel comfortable doing that. If she goes some place else I just wouldn't estimate." (RE 79-80; TR 234-235)

C. At the hearing Dr. Guild was also asked how life threatening in his opinion would it be for Mrs. Hancock not to be allowed to go back to her house. He responded, "It would be – it would be. I can't put a figure on it. I can't put anything but I couldn't recommend it. I am here today because I am very fearful there is a good chance that if she doesn't have that situation she won't be here and need – and the need for divorce won't be before the Court." (RE 80-81; TR 235-236)

5. At the trial of this cause, Dr. Guild admitted that he wanted to impart to the Chancellor at the divorce hearing under oath his expert opinion that if Mrs. Hancock didn't get the house she would kill herself. (RE 82; TR 249)

-3-

6. The Chancellor did not award temporary possession of the house to Mrs. Hancock.

7. Prior to releasing Mrs. Hancock Dr. Guild was aware that three years previous in 1996, she had attempted suicide with a self-inflicted gunshot wound to her chest. (RE 76; TR 201; TE P-4)

8. a) Dr. Guild was also well aware that guns were kept in the house sought by Mrs. Hancock but occupied by her husband and sons. (TE P-4; Discharge Summary)

b) Cherie Hancock's mother lived next door to Donna Pigg, who lived right behind the Hancock family house, occupied by Ms. Hancock's husband and son. (RE 124-125; TR 485-486)

9. Three days after her release from St. Dominic's, Mrs. Hancock went unaccompanied and unsupervised to the Hancock house and took her life with the use of a firearm.

10. At trial Dr. Guild testified that although he did a suicide comprehensive risk assessment he does not document it in the chart. (RE 83; TR 268) (Emphasis added)

At trial Dr. Guild admitted that he had a duty to implement a discharge plan for Mrs.
 Hancock. (RE 84; TR 272)

12. Relative to the Discharge Plan, Dr. Guild testified:

Q: And the discharge plan – what was the discharge plan? Go ahead.

A: The discharge plan was for the patient to go home to her mother's and her stepfather's to live there. she was to be with someone at all times if possible. It's not completely possible that you stay with somebody all the time, but it was to be done as much as possible. If there was anything unusual, anything that turned to the thing, they were – they were to let me know. she was given my pager, she was given my office number.

Q: Where is all that written down?

A: It's not. (Emphasis added)

£ .

- Q: So you're sitting here telling us that you she was going to live with her mother, you gave her your pager, gave her your number, and that was the discharge plan, but you didn't document any of that.
- A: Well –

í -

- Q: Is that not a violation of the standard of care, Dr. Guild?
- A: That's not a violation of the standard of care. The social worker helped me implement the discharge planning, and most important, Jim Herring implemented that. She had absolute faith in Jim Herring. He was her attorney. She wouldn't – he was the only one that could tell her to do something and she would do it.
- Q: So you delegated the implementation of the discharge plan to attorney Jim Herring?
- A: At least a good bit of it, yes.
- Q: Is it not a violation of the standard of care to delegate the implementation of the discharge plan?
- A: No.
- Q: Okay. You don't know if the mother was ever talk [sic] to or not, do you? Her mother?
- A: Haven't finished the last one.
- Q: Go ahead.
- A: Okay. When you implement a discharge plan you make the best effort you can to communicate it to people. In some cases, unfortunately, the only thing you can do is leave a message on an answering machine. now, I think probably the reason I didn't get in touch with the mother was I couldn't catch her on the phone. I'm back and forth, and when I get in touch with Mr. Herring, I trust him to make sure that it got done. So as long as you leave a trusted individual, be it a friend or social worker, you're doing it. You can't do everything yourself.
- Q: Right. But what I'm saying is you don't' know if you talked to the mother or not, do you?
- A: Yes, I do.

- Q: You know you did?
- A: Well, I know Mr. Herring did.
- Q: No, do you know well, did you talk to her?
- A: I don't know that I talked to her.
- Q: You don't know that Mr. Herring talked to her, do you?
- A: I know that.
- Q: Well, you weren't there when he talked to her, were you?
- A: No, I wasn't.
- Q: Okay. so you don't know if he talked to her or not, do you?
- A: I don't believe Mr. Herring would lie. It's possible, but very unlikely.
- Q: What did Mr. Herring tell her?
- A: He told her what we discussed.
- Q: What was that?
- A: The main thing was that she was to be with somebody as much of the time, if anything changed, let us know, and taker her medication, come to the appointments.
- Q: And that was it?
- A: There was probably a little bit more. There were probably some other
- Q: What was it if you're so sure you did it?
- A: Well, as you pointed out, I don't write down every single word. For one thing, when I make a discharge plan I may not be at the hospital. I may not be at my office. I may have my cell phone and I may be in the car when I make contact with the person. And unfortunately, it [sic] just not feasible to write down everything at the moment you do it and put it in either the office chart or the hospital chart. The important thing is that you do it.

- Q: But a discharge plan is crucial, is it not, Dr. Guild?
- A: A discharge plan is absolutely crucial.
- Q: And there is no documentation of this discharge plan, is there?
- A: I think there is ample documentation of it.
- Q: Where is it?
- A: It's in the record. It's the social worker contacted her, it's in the discharge summary.

(RE 85-88; TR 273 - 276)

* * *

Q: Dr. guild, your duty – don't you have a duty to document a discharge plan, a written documentation of discharge plan for a suicidal patient?

* * *

- Q: Do you have a duty under the standard of care to document a discharge plan for a patient that was admitted suicidal?
- A: I do and I did.
- Q: Where did you document it?
- A: In the discharge summary, in the orders, in the last note.
- Q: I just want to make sure that the discharge summary is where you're saying you discharged is the documentation fo the discharge plan. Is that correct?
- A: That is not what I said.
- Q: Well, what did you say?
- A: What I said is it's in the orders, it's in the progress notes, it's in the social workers notes, and it's in the discharge summary.
- Q: Does the discharge does the standard of care on the discharge the implementation of a discharge plan require you to contact the mother?
- A: No.

- Q: It doesn't. Even though she's going to live with the mother. you had no duty to contact the mother?
- A: No. I have a duty to see that I make all the efforts that I can to make sure that she's in a safe environment.
- Q: Well, how can you do that if you're not going to contact the person that's in control fo the place where she's going to be?
- A: I can get somebody else that's very reliable to do it, and that I can count on. And I do that all the time. I give an order for a shot and I expect the nurse to give it.
- Q: Okay. Who called her mother?
- A: Candy Lowicki got in touch with her and -
- Q: Who?
- A: Candy Lowicki, the social worker.
- Q: How do you know that?
- A: She told me in passing in the ward.
- Q: It's not written down, is it?
- A: We passed in the ward, it's not written down. (Emphasis added)
- Q: Okay, well, if you had a documentation on a discharge plan, we would know that she was directed to contact her, wouldn't we?
- A: You know that she was directed to contact –

* * *

- Q: If it was written down then we would know that she was directed to contact her, wouldn't we, Dr. Guild?
- A: We would not.
- Q: Okay. Why?
- A: We would know that I had written down she was directed to contact her. But we wouldn't if that was true, would we? [sic]

- Q: Is it not your duty to see that's done?
- A: It's my duty to take reasonable efforts to make certain that things are done. And if I don't trust a nurse or social worker, then I make certain it's done myself. Candy Lowicki has been there for years. I can depend on her.
- Q: Well, I thought the attorney did the contacting of the mother?
- A: He did too. It was double.
- Q: What did they tell her? Do you know what they told her?
- A: I didn't hear the conversation.
- Q: Well, if you're charged with implementing the discharge plan, how are you going to know if conforms to the discharge plan if you don't know what they told her?
- A: Max, you got to trust somebody.
- Q: Does the standard of care require you to trust somebody to implement the discharge plan?
- A: It absolutely does.
- Q: So you're telling this court and this jury that the standard of care you utilized in the implementation of the discharge plan was to trust a social worker and Mr. Herring to contact and inform the mother of the things she needed to know?
- A: Correct. That's why we have the team.
- Q: Go ahead.
- A: I don't –
- Q: Did you know whether or not the mother is not one of the things that the mother needs to be aware of what to look for as far as depression?
- A: Correct.
- Q: Do you know whether or not the mother was aware of what she is supposed to look for?

A: Yes.

Q: How do you know that?

A: Mr. Herring.

Q: Mr. Herring told you?

A: Yeah.

Q: So based on what Mr. Herring had to say, does the mother understand what the deal was?

A: Completely and was satisfied.

(RE 91-95; TR 293- 297)

13. The Discharge Summary was prepared September 29, 1999, 9 days after Mrs.Hancock's death. (RE 90; TR 292)

14. Dr. Guild testified that he did not want to discharge Mrs. Hancock on September 17th but wanted to keep her one or two more days. (RE 89; TR 284)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. It was error for the Court to refuse to give Plaintiff's Instruction No. P-5 and P-6. Such refusal denied Plaintiff the right to place her theory of the case before the jury as the proposed instructions adequately described the law in Mississippi and the authority for each instruction was placed before the Court.

2. It was reversible error for the trial court to deny Plaintiff the opportunity to submit an apportionment instruction to the jury so as to allow the jury to apportion the fault of Cherie S. Hancock's death among Donald C. Guild, M.D. and any others including family members of Mrs. Hancock. Defendant pled the benefit of MISS. CODE ANN. §85-5-7. Defendant tried his case in significant part by arguing that it was the acts of George Thomas Hancock and other family members that killed Cherie S. Hancock, not the negligence of Dr. Guild. When Defendant did not submit an apportionment instruction pursuant to MISS. CODE ANN. §85-5-7, Plaintiff asked the Court for leave to submit such an instruction but was denied the same. The jury was not instructed so as to consider the negligence of Dr. Guild and measure same against the negligence or fault of George Thomas Hancock or others through instructions from the Court. In effect the case was tried under the old contributory negligence standard where contributory negligence is a bar.

3. It is reversible error for the trial court to admit into evidence unauthenticated copies of the alleged suicide notes of Cherie Hancock. These copies of handwritten notes were never authenticated and identified pursuant to Rule 901 of the MISSISSIPPI RULES OF EVIDENCE as no evidence was offered as to where the alleged notes were found, when they were found, who allegedly found them. These alleged suicide notes cannot be authenticated under Rule 803(6) of the MISSISSIPPI RULES OF EVIDENCE as business documents. These notes do not constitute any memorandum, report, record or data compilation in any form of acts or events in the regular course of business of the Sheriff's Department of Yazoo County, Mississippi.

4. A reversal and new trial is warranted because of matters which in the cumulative constitute error. These matters include the following:

A. During his opening statement, counsel for Defendant inappropriately commented that the jury would not hear from attorney Jim Herring because Plaintiff had claimed attorney/client privilege and objected to him testifying. This comment was highly prejudicial and highly inappropriate inasmuch as during pretrial proceedings the Court had ruled that Defendant was not entitled to a negative inference because Plaintiff had claimed the privilege.

-11-

B. It was error to permit testimony from Donna Kerry Pigg over the objections of Plaintiff as to conversations between Ms. Pigg and the Deceased as such constituted hearsay and were highly prejudicial. These conversations did not relate to the existing mental, emotional or physical condition to the Deceased at the time of her suicide.

C. It was error for the Court to permit Dr. Guild to make references to statements made by the Deceased to him which were not contained within his medical records. It is a common axiom of the medical profession that "if you don't write it down it didn't happen." Hearsay statements that are written down obviously meet the trustworthy requirements of Rule 803(4). To permit Dr. Guild to testify and make references to alleged statements made by the Deceased which were not contained within the medical records gives Dr. Guild cart blanche hearsay authority.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. <u>It was reversible error for the trial court to refuse to give Plaintiff's</u> <u>Instructions P-5 and P-6.</u>

It was error for the Court to refuse to give Plaintiff's Instruction Nos. P-5 and P-6. Such refusal denied Plaintiff the right to place her theory of the case before the jury. Each of the two proposed instructions adequately described the law in Mississippi. The denied instructions are as follows:

JURY INSTRUCTION NO.

If you find from a preponderance of the evidence in this case that:

1. Given the circumstances of Cherie S. Hancock's medical condition during the time the defendant, Donald C. Guild, saw and treated her, a minimally competent physician and psychiatrist who had available the same general facilities, services, equipment and options as Donald C. Guild had during the time she was his patient would not have discharged Mrs. Hancock on September 17, 1999 from St. Dominic Hospital without performing a comprehensive suicide assessment and preparing an adequate discharge plan that

included taking reasonable steps to provide a supportive environment and support system to Mrs. Hancock upon discharge; and

2. The defendant Donald C. Guild failed to comply with this standard of care in his treatment of the plaintiff; and

3. Such failure on the part of Donald C. Guild constituted a proximate cause or contributing proximate cause of the suicide death of Mrs. Hancock.

then you must return a verdict for the Plaintiff against the defendant, Donald C. Guild.

P-5

(RE EE; TR 323)

JURY INSTRUCTION NO.

If you find [sic] a preponderance of the evidence in this case that:

1. Cherie S. Hancock was a patient of Dr. Donald C. Guild; and

2. While a patient of Dr. Guild, Cherie S. Hancock was suffering from a mental and physical condition; and

3. Defendant, Donald C. Guild, should have reasonably been aware of Mrs. Hancock's condition and was aware that she had previously attempted to commit suicide in 1996; and

4. That on September 15, 1999, defendant, Donald C. Guild testified in open court under oath in the presence of Cherie S. Hancock in a divorce preceding that in his opinion, if Cherie S. Hancock were not allowed to move back into the marital house that she would take her own life; and

5. That Donald C. Guild, knowing that Cherie S. Hancock, had not been allowed by the Court to return to the marital house, discharged her from St. Dominic Hospital two (2) days later on September 17, 1999 without performing a comprehensive suicide assessment or otherwise preparing an adequate discharge plan that included taking reasonable steps to provide a supportive environment and support system for Mrs. Hancock upon discharge; and

6. That Donald C. Guild failed to provide the care and attention that Cherie S. Hancock's condition reasonable [sic] required and which a reasonable prudent and minimally competent psychiatrist treating Mrs. Hancock would have provided; and

7. That Donald C. Guild's failure to provide such care and attention was the proximate cause or a proximate contributing cause of Cherie S. Hancock's self-inflicted death by firearms on September 20, 1999,

then your verdict should be for plaintiff.

P-6

(RE 34-35; TR 324-325)

Proposed Jury Instruction P-5 came out of the Mississippi Judicial College Mississippi Model

Jury Instructions Civil Database under Chapter 14 Medical Malpractice §14.2. Physicians-General

negligence instructions. The instruction in the database appears as follows:

IN THE COURT OF COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

JUDICIAL DISTRICT

[Plaintiff]

VERSUS NO.

[Defendant]

INSTRUCTION NO.

If you find from a preponderance of the evidence in this case that:

1.

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