#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### NO. 2004-CA-02532

# CANDICE YOUNG, PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF CHERIE S. HANCOCK, DECEASED

**APPELLANT/ CROSS APPELLEE** 

V.

#### DONALD C. GUILD, M.D.

#### **APPELLEE/ CROSS APPELLANT**

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF YAZOO COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

## **BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE / CROSS APPELLANT**

(ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

**SUBMITTED BY:** 

WHITMAN B. JOHNSON, III, ESQ. DENISE C. WESLEY, ESQ. CURRIE, JOHNSON, GRIFFIN, GAINES & MYERS, P.A. P.O. BOX 750 JACKSON, MS 39205-0750 TELEPHONE: (601) 969-1010 FACSIMILE: (601) 969-5120

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

#### A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS ON APPEAL

After three (3) days of trial testimony and documentary evidence on Dr. Guild's care and treatment of Ms. Hancock, the jury in this case returned a unanimous defense verdict. The Plaintiffs' are attempting to convince this Court to reverse and remand the jury's decision on the basis of alleged errors. However, established legal precedent refutes all of the Plaintiffs' arguments.

The Plaintiffs' first argument is that the trial court abused its discretion by denying their "theory of the case" instruction. This argument ignores the fact that under Mississippi case law, there is no unfettered right to a theory of the case instruction, but rather, such an instruction must be supported by the evidence presented at trial. Furthermore, the denial of a theory instruction does not constitute error when the remaining instructions actually given to the jury correctly articulate the primary applicable rules of law.

In the case at hand, Jury Instruction No. 5, given to the jury, provided the jurors in this case with the primary applicable rules of law as well as direction regarding what action to take based upon the evidence presented at trial. Thus, under the recent case of <u>Beckwith v. Shah</u>, - - So.2d - -, 2007 WL 1599649 (Miss. 2007), there is no error at all, much less reversible error, caused by denial of the Plaintiffs' instructions P-5 and P-6.

Furthermore, instructions P-5 and P-6 were not supported by the evidence in this case, while the Court's denial of P-5 and P-6, coupled with the granting of Jury Instruction No. 5, still gave the Plaintiffs the latitude to present theories of the case which were not even included in the denied theory instructions. The Plaintiffs took full advantage of that opportunity in closing argument, arguing issues of contemporaneous documentation and premature discharge that were not even included in their proposed instructions. <u>Beckwith v. Shah</u> controls the case and mandates affirmance.

The Plaintiffs next argued that the trial court's denial of an instruction for apportionment of liability among themselves and Dr. Guild were reversible error because Miss. Code Ann. §85-5-7 requires the jury to determine the percentage of fault for each party alleged to be at fault. The Plaintiffs then reasoned that because defense counsel commented extensively on Ms. Hancock's family situation, this amounted to allegations of fault and mandating an apportionment instruction to avoid the practical effect of operating under the old contributory negligence standard. However, this argument flies in the face of several legal precedents.

First of all, the argument is procedurally moot because the jury's defense verdict finding Dr. Guild not guilty of any negligence means that there were no damages to apportion. <u>Patton v. Nelson</u>, 51 So.2d 752 (Miss. 1951). Secondly, on close review of the trial transcript, the Plaintiffs were not requesting an instruction to apportion liability under Miss. Code Ann. §85-5-7, but rather an instruction to delineate how the damages would be apportioned among themselves; therefore, the issue on appeal was technically not raised at trial and should be barred from appeal. Thirdly, the trial court's denial of the Plaintiffs' request to apportion liability to themselves does not frustrate the judicially recognized purpose of the apportionment statute, especially since the family members' actions, whatever influence they may have had, do not constitute the type of legal fault contemplated by Section 85-5-7. <u>Hunter v. General Motors Corp.</u>, 729 So.2d 1264, 1276 (Miss. 1999). Fourthly, in requesting apportionment of negligence to themselves, the Plaintiffs requested an instruction at variance with sworn interrogatory responses; and they are therefore not entitled to receive such an instruction. <u>Coho Resources, Inc. v. McCarthy</u>, 829 So.2d 1 (Miss. 2002). Given these factors, the lack of apportionment instruction was well warranted.

From a defense standpoint, evidence of Ms. Hancock's family situation was highly relevant to love, society, and companionship, as well as loss of enjoyment of life. In fact, in a case in which the plaintiff put on proof of less than \$82,000.00 in economic loss, and requested 1.5 million dollars in compensation for society and companionship and 1.5 million dollars for loss of enjoyment of life, the defense counsel not only had a right to put on evidence of Ms. Hancock's interaction, but also had an ethical duty to highlight a true picture of the quality of Ms. Hancock's life, including the relationship with the family members seeking to recover these damages. To characterize Ms. Hancock's family relationships as "negligent" resulting in "fault" and "causation" further implies that there is some legal duty owed by Ms. Hancock's family members in their interaction with her. No such argument, legal support or instruction was offered by the Plaintiffs to support apportionment on this basis. For all these reasons, the Court rightfully denied the Plaintiffs' request to apportion liability to themselves.

The Plaintiffs third assignment of proposed reversible error concerns the admission of defense Exhibit 6, handwritten notes by Ms. Hancock, that were found during the sheriff's investigation of the suicide. The Plaintiffs allege that the notes were not properly authenticated and that they were therefore inadmissible. The Plaintiffs essentially support their argument with the observation that the notes in defense Exhibit 6 were not dated. However, the Mississippi Rules of Evidence governing authentication have no specific dating requirement. Instead, Rule 901 of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence **does** allow authentication by the trier of fact by comparison and by distinctive characteristics. Since the handwritten notes in defense Exhibit 6 contained information distinct to Ms. Hancock's family situation and could have been compared to Ms. Hancock's handwriting in eight (8) fully authenticated exemplars in evidence, Plaintiffs' argument must fail. Sewell v. State, 721 So.2d 129 (Miss. 1998). Furthermore, the notes were relevant to society and

companionship and enjoyment of life, and the notes were kept as part of the sheriff's investigation file transmitted to defense counsel in the regular course of business. There is no reason why the Plaintiffs should have been allowed to keep the jury from seeing these note. The trial court's decision to allow the notes into evidence was proper.

Lastly, the Plaintiffs allege three (3) different errors which they feel cumulatively warrant reversal of the jury verdict. The first alleged error is a single comment during the Defendant's opening statement referencing the absence of Jim Herring from the trial proceedings. However, the Plaintiffs themselves prevented the Defendant from deposing Jim Herring in pretrial discovery so he could learn of matters either not protected by privilege or as to which privilege was waived. Given this, defense counsel had a right to inform the jury of the Plaintiffs' objection. More to the point, any error was cured by the trial court's limiting instruction. Fox v. State, 756 So.2d 753, 761 (Miss. 2000); Curtis v. Bellwood Farms, Inc, 805 So.2d 541, 543 - 544 (Miss. App. 2000).

Next, the Plaintiffs argued that Donna Pigg should not have been allowed to testify to any conversations between herself and Ms. Hancock. However, in light of the fact that the Plaintiffs were allowed to put on their case in chief featuring conversations between Ms. Hancock and themselves over a standing hearsay objection from defense counsel (TR at p. 432, lines 5 - 19; RE 338), the Plaintiffs should not be allowed to seek a reversal on the basis of conversations attested to during the Defendant's case. The rule of the case adopted by the trial court in this matter allowed testimony regarding conversations with Cherie Hancock under the state of mind exception. (TR at p. 441, lines 4-11; RE 341). Considering the unavailability of Ms. Hancock and the seminal relevance of state of mind in this case, the ruling was correctly within the trial court's discretion.

l

Ì

ļ

The final alleged error can best be characterized as the Plaintiffs' attempt to add new requirements to the Mississippi Rules of Evidence by arguing that Dr. Guild should not have been

allowed to testify to any statements made by Ms. Hancock that were not written in his medical records. However, pursuant to the rule of this case allowing conversations with Ms. Hancock under *res gestae*, this allegation should be denied. Also, Rule 803(4) of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence specifically allows a patient's statements to treating physicians into evidence, as these statements have sufficient guarantees of trustworthiness. See <u>Bridges v. Kitchings</u>, 820 So.2d 42 (Miss. 2002). Thus, the trial court correctly allowed these statements into evidence under Miss. R. Evid. 803(4). Additionally, these statements are admissible because they form the basis of Dr. Guild's diagnosis and treatment of the patient. Plaintiffs obviously wanted to prevent the admission of the statements in order to try to prevent Dr. Guild from explaining the basis of the care he provided. Certainly, a doctor is allowed to explain why he made the decisions he made.

Obviously, the Plaintiffs' allegations on appeal are nothing more than futile attempts to avoid the rightful judgment entered in this case. A close look beneath the surface of the Plaintiffs' allegations reveal the absence of legal support for the concessions they have requested in this appeal.

#### B. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS ON CROSS APPEAL

The Plaintiffs should not be allowed to recover in this case because the circumstances of this case do not meet the elements of the Irresistible Impulse Doctrine . The Irresistible Impulse Doctrine begins with the premise that a plaintiff cannot recover damages for suicide because suicide is an illegal act that breaks the causal chain between the defendants negligent act and the plaintiff's injury/suicide. This doctrine exists as an exception to the common law rule designating suicide as a criminal act, which normally precludes recovery. <u>Price v. Purdue Pharma Co.</u>, 920 So.2d 479 (Miss. 2006). A decedent's heirs are only allowed to recover, however, upon showing that (1) the defendant committed an intentional wrongful act against the plaintiff, and (2) the plaintiff committed suicide as the result of an irresistible impulse prompted by a mental illness, as opposed to a mental

condition such as depression.

In this case, because the Plaintiffs have never alleged that Dr. Guild committed any intentional tort against Ms. Hancock, the Irresistible Impulse Doctrine does not provide any gateway to recovery by the Plaintiffs. Likewise, the Plaintiffs' expert's testimony that Ms. Hancock was overcome by depression and succumbed to an irresistible impulse is almost the exact same testimony rejected by the Mississippi Court of Appeals in <u>Collums v. Union Planters Bank</u>, 832 So.2d 572 (Miss. at 2002). Under the doctrine, the illness must rise from some mental dysfunction where the decedent is not aware or in control of his/her own actions, not an instance in which the decedent chooses suicide due to depression or stressful situations. <u>Collums</u>, 832 So.2d at 578 (¶ 15 - 16). Therefore, not being excepted from the common law illegality rule, the Plaintiffs are not allowed to recover damages for Ms. Hancock's suicide and the verdict must be affirmed.

With respect to Jim Herring, the attorney who referred Ms. Hancock to Dr. Guild, the Defendant should have been allowed to depose Attorney Herring during the discovery phase of this case. The trial court's blanket denial barring the Defendant from conducting any pretrial discovery was in error, pursuant to <u>Hewes v. Langston</u>, 853 So.2d 1237 (Miss. 2003), in which this court exemplified an item-by-item approach to allowing discovery when attorney/client privilege is raised, as opposed to a blanket denial. Furthermore, once the pretrial discovery request had been denied on the basis of the Plaintiffs' raising of the attorney/client privilege, the Defendant should have been allowed to present an inference instruction to the jury. The trial court's denial of the requested instruction was therefore in error.

#### ARGUMENT IN RESPONSE TO APPELLANT'S BRIEF

A. The trial court properly denied the Plaintiffs' theory of the case instructions P-5 and P-6 because the theory presented in these instructions was not supported by the facts of the case. Further, any alleged error in the trial court's denial of instructions P-5 and P-6 was harmless because the jury instructions, when read together as a whole, expressed the applicable primary rules of law sufficient to allow the Plaintiffs to fully argue their case.

## 1. Standard of Review

The Plaintiffs argue on appeal that the trial court's refusal of Plaintiffs' instructions P-5 and

P-6 constitute reversible error. However, under Mississippi law, the trial court has considerable

discretion over the refusal of jury instructions, and the court's decision is not to be overturned unless

the Plaintiffs prove an abuse of discretion on the part of the trial court. Coho Resources, Inc. v.

McCarthy, 829 So.2d 1 (Miss. 2002). In Coho Resources, Inc., this court summarized Mississippi's

law on jury instructions as follows:

Jury instructions are to be read together and taken as a whole with no one instruction taken out of context. A defendant [or any party] is entitled to have jury instructions given which present his theory of the case; however, this entitlement is limited in that the court may refuse an instruction which incorrectly states the law, is fairly covered elsewhere in the instructions, or is without foundation in the evidence. We have also held a court's jury instructions will not warrant reversal if the jury was fully and fairly instructed by other instructions.

Coho Resources, 829 So.2d at 23.

Therefore, the trial court's denial of P-5 and P-6 was not erroneous if the jury was fairly

instructed on applicable primary rules of law when the jury instructions are considered as a whole.

2. The trial court's denial of Instructions P-5 and P-6 was not erroneous because the remaining jury instructions, when read together as a whole, expressed the applicable primary rules of law.

Even assuming that the Plaintiffs' instructions were proper despite their lack of factual basis,

the Plaintiffs are not entitled to a new trial because the jury was properly instructed even without the

two instructions at issue.

The Plaintiffs correctly state the primary applicable rule of law regarding a physician's standard of care as follows:

[i]n Mississippi medical malpractice cases, the standard of care is objective and requires the physician to exercise the degree of care, diligence and skill ordinarily possessed and exercised by a minimally competent and reasonably diligent skillful, careful, and prudent physician in a particular field of practice.

(Appellant Brief at page 15 (citing <u>Bickham v. Grant</u>, 861 So.2d 299, 303 (Miss. 2003)). The Plaintiffs argue that because P-5 and P-6 meet the standard, they should not have been denied. However, whether P-5 and P-6 met the standard is irrelevant to whether the jury was properly instructed without P-5 and P-6. To paraphrase the rule from <u>Coho Resources</u>, if all of the given jury instructions read together as a whole accurately pronounce the primary applicable rules of law, then the jury was properly instructed and the case should be affirmed.

Upon reviewing the jury instructions given at trial (RE 22-31, 38-44), Jury Instruction No. 5 informs the jury of the primary applicable rule of law in this case, referencing Dr. Guild's duty to act as "a reasonably prudent minimally competent psychiatrist" under "the same or similar circumstances." (RE at 40). Contrary to the Plaintiffs' argument that "there was no instruction instructing the jury as to the circumstances under which they could return a verdict for the Plaintiffs," Jury Instruction No. 5 specifically addresses that issue:

#### Jury Instruction No. 5

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